FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
9/23/2021 1:14 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/23/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100240-8

NO. 374009

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

UMPQUA BANK,

Petitioner,

v.

CHARLES A. GUNZEL III, et al.,

Respondent.

**RESPONDENT UMPQUA BANK'S PETITION FOR
REVIEW**

Daniel A. Brown, WSBA #22028
Sean D. Leake, WSBA #52658
**WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS
PLLC**
601 Union Street, Suite 4100
Seattle, WA 98101-2380
Tel: (206) 628-6600
Fax: (206) 628-6611
Email:
dbrown@williamskastner.com
sleake@williamskastner.com
*Attorneys for Petitioner Umpqua
Bank*

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Umpqua Bank (“Umpqua”), Respondent in the Court of Appeals and Plaintiff below in Benton County.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS

Umpqua seeks review of two published opinions, both styled *Umpqua Bank v. Gunzel*, No. 37400-9-III. *Gunzel I*, was filed March 25, 2021 (Appendix A, hereto). After Umpqua moved for reconsideration and to supplement the record, Division III filed a second published opinion, *Gunzel II*, on August 24, 2021 (Appendix B, hereto).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court incorrectly concluded that Gunzel’s continued payments on the Note after its maturity date did not extend the statute of limitations on his follow-on guaranty under either Washington or Oregon law?

2. Whether the Court of Appeals should raise un-litigated issues—and then remand for entry of judgment rather than further fact-finding—after resolving them on an undeveloped record while ignoring Gunzel’s obvious perjurious statements.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

1. The Parties

Umpqua is an Oregon bank with locations across the west coast. Charles A. Gunzel III (“Gunzel”) is the founder and president of his now-defunct closely-held construction company, Cornerstone Building Co. (“Cornerstone”). Gunzel is the listed registered agent and sole governor of Cornerstone, which has been inactive since 2009 with a business license that expired the same year. *See* Appendix C.

2. Gunzel Personally Guarantees Cornerstone’s Debt with Umpqua

To fund its business operations, Cornerstone obtained a line of credit from Umpqua evidenced by a commercial promissory note (“the Note”). CP 169. The funding of such

credit required a personal guaranty from Gunzel. Virtually all loans to small and mid-sized businesses are structured this way.¹

Between May 28, 2005 and May 21, 2007, Gunzel, on behalf of his company, entered into a series of Modification Agreements in which the maturity date and interest rate were changed. *See* CP 169 – 180. Each time, Gunzel executed a companion personal guaranty. *See* CP 41 – 73.

By June 27, 2007, the maximum credit line was \$200,000—still personally guaranteed by Gunzel—and the maturity date was extended to May 28, 2009. CP 70-73; 175.

¹ *See e.g., The Role of Secured Credit in Small Business Lending*, Ronald Mann, *Georgetown Law Review*, 86 GEOLJ 1 (1997), *citing* Lawrence Gardner, *Protecting the Small Business Owner's Personal Assets-Borrower's Viewpoint*, J. LENDING & CREDIT RISK MGMT., Dec. 1996, at 48, 48 (“Up to 99.5% of loans to closely held companies require ... the personal guaranty of the owner.”). *See also, Insider Guaranties in Bankruptcy: A Framework for Analysis*, Marshall Tracht, *University of Miami Law Review*, 54 UMIALR 497 (“First, a very large number of small business loans are made with personal guaranties.”).

3. The Personal Guaranty Specifically Links the Enforceability of the Guaranty to the Enforceability of the Note

The personal guaranties signed by Gunzel were “continuing guarantees” that were effective for the duration and enforceability of the underlying indebtedness itself (the Note):

This Guaranty will take effect when received by the Lender ... and will continue in full force until all the Indebtedness incurred or contracted for ... have been fully and finally paid and satisfied and all of Guarantor’s other obligations under the Guaranty shall have been performed in full.

CP 127, 130, 133, 137 (emphasis added). Gunzel’s guaranty of payment to Umpqua would not expire simply because the maturity date of the Note arrived; instead, Gunzel promised (and the bank relied on that promise in extending the requested credit) that he would remain liable “until all the Indebtedness” incurred had been repaid. The purpose of this provision was to give effect to the general statutory rule that continued payments on a debt extend the statute of limitations on that debt. ORS 12.240, *see also* RCW 4.16.280 (Washington’s equivalent).

Gunzel expressly agreed to waive the statute of limitations as a defense to his personal obligations—so the Note and guaranty ran at the same rate so to speak:

Guarantor also waives any and all rights or defenses based on surety or impairment of collateral including, but not limited to, any rights or defenses arising by reason of ...(E) **any statute of limitations**, if at any time any action or suit brought by Lender against Guarantor is commenced, **there is outstanding indebtedness which is not barred by any applicable statute of limitations.**

CP 127, 130, 134, 138 (emphasis added).

So long as there was an outstanding debt that, itself, was not yet barred by any applicable statute of limitations, Gunzel agreed that the statute of limitations would not impact his guaranty(ies) to Umpqua. This was a necessary part of Umpqua's risk calculation that allowed it to lend to Cornerstone. Gunzel, a sophisticated businessperson and beneficiary of the term, agreed that it was consistent with public policy:

Guarantor warrants and agrees that each of the waivers set forth above is made with Guarantor's full knowledge of its significance and consequences

and that, under the circumstances, the waivers are reasonable and not contrary to public policy or law.

CP 128.

4. Gunzel and Cornerstone Default on the Debt

When the Note became due on May 28, 2009, Cornerstone (and Gunzel) failed to pay. CP 220. Nonetheless, Gunzel continued to personally make payments on the Note until late 2013. After Cornerstone became defunct in 2009, Umpqua accepted nearly 100 further payments, which, to its reasonable understanding under the agreements, forestalled the statute of limitations—and the necessity of formal legal action at that time. CP 75–81. The final payments to Umpqua relative to the debt were sent from Gunzel’s personal bank account:²

THE BACK OF THIS CHECK CONTAINS A SECURITY MARK. DO NOT ACCEPT WITHOUT HOLDING IT AT AN ANGLE TO VERIFY SECURITY MARK.

Post to Account: 3468648478 \$200.00 12/09/2013

CHARLES A. GUNZEL, JR.
2020 MADRONA POINT DR
BREMERTON, WA 98512-7235

WELLS FARGO

Please post this payment for Our Mutual Customer
Please Direct Any Questions To 800-950-4442 or 56-282-412 1204866949
Please Return Check To
WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.
Dept #34033, PO BOX 39000, San Francisco, CA 94139
9600051846 1204866949

December 9, 2013

PAY Two Hundred and 00/100 Dollars \$ *****200.00

VOID 90 DAYS AFTER ISSUE

TO THE ORDER OF UMPQUA BANK
ATTN: RICK REED
1377 MOHAWK BLVD
SPRINGFIELD OR 97477-3358

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
113 North 14th Street
Van Wert, OH 45891

Memo

Wells Fargo as agent for its customer

⑆ 204866949⑆ ⑆ 04 ⑆ 203824⑆ 9600055846⑆

² Appendix D.

B. Procedural Background

1. Gunzel Acknowledges the Amount and Existence of the Debt

As Gunzel was fulfilling his obligations from 2009 to 2013, Umpqua was slow to file suit. It waited until there was genuinely no other choice and after no further voluntary payments were forthcoming—almost six years after the last payment from Gunzel—filed on March 25, 2019. CP 1.

Gunzel’s answer admitted Umpqua was owed “approximately \$280,000.” CP 187 – 88. He also admitted that “as par[t] (sic) of the Loan relationship, Gunzel agreed to and did execute certain Commercial Guarantees.” CP 188.

2. The Trial Court Denies Gunzel’s Motion for Summary Judgment

On July 16, 2019, Gunzel filed his motion for summary judgment seeking an order dismissing Umpqua’s claim arguing that, because the personal debt became due in 2009, the statute of limitations had run. CP 4. Gunzel acknowledged that Umpqua continued to receive payments until 2013 (CP 7), but

never argued then that only Cornerstone made payments (rather than himself, personally). He also did not provide a declaration in support of his motion.

On October 2, 2019, the Court denied Gunzel's motion, agreeing with Umpqua that its claims were not barred as a matter of law. Its Order reflected that:

8. The cause of action against Charles A. Gunzel III by Umpqua Bank, based on Mr. Gunzel's personal guaranties, accrued upon maturity of the promissory note, *i.e.* May 28, 2009, which was extended by payments made through December 16, 2013.

9. The cause of action against Charles A. Gunzel III by Umpqua Bank was filed within the statute of limitations, *i.e.* prior to December 16, 2019 which is six years after the last payment was made on the promissory note, *i.e.* December 16, 2013.

CP 156 – 57. All of this was consistent with the pleadings, framing the parties' respective positions, as well as the arguments advanced at that time to the trial court.

3. The Trial Court Grant's Umpqua's Motion for Summary Judgment

Umpqua filed its own motion for summary judgment roughly two weeks later, in October 2019. CP 158. It noted that

the amount and existence of the debt was not in dispute, and that the Court had already found Gunzel's personal guaranty of the Note was not barred by the statute of limitations on account of Gunzel's payments over time. CP 158.

Instead of timely responding, Gunzel brought a motion to continue on shortened time a week after his response was due — which the trial court, arguably in error, granted. Gunzel filed a response on December 30, 2019.

Since the amount and existence of the debt were undisputed Gunzel asserted only that Umpqua “materially increased the risk to [Gunzel]” by continuing to accept payments after the 2009 maturity date (CP 214), and that Umpqua's representative did not have personal knowledge of the loan documents (CP 215).

Gunzel also submitted a declaration which was almost completely untethered from the legal arguments advanced in his

brief. He—falsely³—stated that he “did not consent to the extension of the debt evidenced by loan number 346868478” and that “Cornerstone Building Company continued to make payments on loan number 346868478 until December of 2013.” CP 220. Gunzel never cited this declaration in his opposition nor did he utilize it to factually resist summary judgment in briefing or in argument to the trial court.⁴

After hearing oral argument in January 2020, the trial court took the matter under advisement and subsequently granted Umpqua’s motion. CP 234. The Court awarded judgment to Umpqua on the outstanding debt, along with attorneys’ fees and costs. CP 234. Gunzel appealed to Division III.

4. *Gunzel I*

On March 25, 2021, Division III of the Court of Appeals handed down its published decision. Appendix A. The Court

³ CP 127–138.

⁴ Had he done so, Umpqua could have offered additional declarations with its rebuttal materials, or even strike the motion in favor of additional discovery—and renew it on a more developed record.

reversed, finding periodic payments did *not* extend the statute of limitations as to Gunzel (only as to Cornerstone).

The Court of Appeals plainly entered its opinion under an erroneous assumption that *only* Cornerstone, not Gunzel, made payments to Umpqua. “[T]he parties ask us to determine when a cause of action accrued, for purposes of the statute of limitations, against a guarantor of a commercial loan **when the commercial borrower defaulted but made periodic payments thereafter.**” Op. at p. 1. The Court then stated the first question is “when does the statute of limitations begin to accrue on the obligation of the guarantor of a loan when the underlying debtor defaults but later tenders payments, **but in the meantime the guarantor tenders no payments?**” *Gunzel I* at 6 (emphasis added).⁵ Accordingly, since the Court held that the statute of limitations as to the

⁵ The Court acknowledged the strangeness of a distinction between a personal guarantor who is the president and owner of a debtor and the debtor itself. *See Gunzel I* at p. 12 (“Admittedly this fear [that a debtor could string along a creditor until the guarantor is released under the statute of limitations] could come to fruition.”).

guaranty began to run upon the 2009 maturity date of the Note, and the statute of limitations was extended (or tolled) only as to the Note and Cornerstone, and not the personal guaranty and Gunzel, Umpqua's lawsuit was untimely. *Id.*

Notably, this was all premised upon an un-litigated, factually undeveloped question, *i.e.*, who was the actual payor of the after-maturity periodic payments to Umpqua over the ensuing years. Umpqua had neither reason, incentive, nor legal obligation to deliver evidence addressing who physically wrote the checks or whose account the funds came from since that issue was not before the court in either of Gunzel's or Umpqua's motion for summary judgment.

Based on a record that was necessarily deficient, the Court of Appeals found in Gunzel's favor—including finding contractual waivers of the statute of limitations as being void as against public policy under Oregon law (and ostensibly Washington law -both issues of first impression). *Op.* at p. 5.

5. Gunzel II

In *Gunzel I*, the Court of Appeals posited that if Gunzel had made, ratified, or approved the payments given to Umpqua between the 2009 maturity date and the last payment in 2013 (which he did), then he would have still been liable for the debt as that would have tolled the statute of limitations against a guarantor as well. *See Op.* at 12 (“We acknowledge that, when the guarantor approves or ratifies the late part payment by the primary debtor, the statute of limitations will be revived as to the guarantor as well.”).

But therein lies the problem. Gunzel *had* made the payments to Umpqua pursuant to his guaranty—and it was provable. Umpqua immediately moved for reconsideration and to supplement the record, noting (1) Gunzel’s representation to the Court that he had not approved payments between 2009 and 2013 was demonstrably false and (2) that the issue had never been litigated below, thus the lack of a sufficient record.

The Court of Appeals sharply denied Umpqua’s request, stating Umpqua did not seek to enhance the factual record until after the issuance of the Court’s opinion in *Gunzel I*,⁶ and because somehow that the equities did not favor the bank. *Gunzel II* at 2. Division III chastised both counsel and (by name) a bank employee for *perceived* discovery abuse—notwithstanding the lack of evidence of any meet-and-confer, no discovery motion on the issue, no trial court order on this point, and without any other meaningful evidence in the record to support such castigations. Effectively, the most extreme sanctions available under *Burnet*⁷ were entered on a closed record, without a semblance of process.

Despite facially acknowledging the seriousness of perjury in the courts (“[t]his court abhors perjury”), the Court of Appeals all but ignored the undeniable proof of Gunzel’s false

⁶ That is, before Umpqua knew the Court of Appeals would raise and rule upon an issue never litigated below.

⁷ Exclusion of evidence and entry of judgment, not to mention attorneys’ fees and costs for the entire action to be awarded to a perjurer who admittedly breached his guaranty obligations.

statements,⁸ noting simply that it “recognize[d] the possibility that Charles Gunzel committed perjury” and relegated Umpqua to nebulous post-judgment, CR 60 practice with a cursory instruction to the trial court to not take instruction on how to rule on such a future motion based on its published opinions. *Id.* at 23.⁹

Because the two published opinions are of sweeping consequence, each for various reasons, and are the product of an undeveloped record, Umpqua now seeks review and, ultimately, justice from this Court.¹⁰

⁸ On reconsideration, Gunzel was given an opportunity by the Court of Appeals to respond, wherein he chose to completely ignore the claims and evidence of perjury and did not otherwise contest the proof put forward at all.

⁹ It cannot be stated strongly enough: the entire legal system revolves around the honor system of witnesses swearing to tell the truth. If that is not zealously protected and honored by every court, the system cannot work and everything is lost.

¹⁰ As it stands, Gunzel, who benefitted from a loan made to his closely held company, after promising he would repay the loan, promising he would not raise a statute of limitations defense, who then made approximately 100 small payments after maturity, the last of which definitively came from his own personal account, all while admitting the debt was unpaid and

V. ARGUMENT

Two primary issues are presented. The first is substantive. Was the Court of Appeals correct when it decided, as a matter of first impression, that statute of limitations waivers in the context of personal guaranties are void as against public policy. And second—procedurally—does an appellate court err when it bases its opinion (particularly one in which it directs that final judgment be entered) on a factual predicate that was neither raised nor developed at the trial court level rather than supplementing the record, or at least remanding the matter for further proceedings before the trial court.

RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be granted by the Washington Supreme Court:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

due, stands to obviate all his promises relied upon by Umpqua, because he provably perjured himself to the trial court and then perpetuated that lie to the Court of Appeals about such payments and where they came from.

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution or the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Multiple grounds exist in this case (1, 3 and 4). As explained below, the Court of Appeals opinions in both *Gunzel I* and *Gunzel II* are deeply problematic. Contrary to *Gunzel I*, the ‘waiver’ language in the personal guaranty was not a prospective waiver, but rather a device to ensure the guaranty and underlying debt would run together for purposes of the applicable statute of limitations. Moreover, Oregon courts have not analyzed statute of limitation waivers, though they have enforced contractual waivers of defenses generally. For a Washington court to establish new principles in a published decision, through the lens of Oregon law as a means of setting new Washington law, is simply inappropriate. It is one thing for a Washington court to

adopt a new rule under Washington, it is quite another to use an Oregon contract under Oregon law to springboard a novel published opinion, particularly under the factual background of this case.

Accepting review provides a much-needed opportunity to clarify the analysis for waivers of statute of limitations under the law and to right an injustice by Gunzel's sanctionable conduct.

Additionally, accepting review promotes the substantial public interest in reinforcing certainty for businesses and individuals engaged in commercial transactions with banks by ensuring personal guaranties can be relied upon, thus strengthening banks' abilities to continue to lend to undercapitalized companies. The documents at issue in this case are standard forms¹¹—and likely a part of tens of thousands

¹¹ The guaranties and loan documents in this case were “LaserPro” forms. LaserPro is a document-assembly system launched in the 1985 for generating loan documentation now used “more than 3,000 lenders nationwide” including Umpqua as distributed by Harland Financial Solutions. *See*

transactions across Washington and the country.¹² The necessity of review is particularly pronounced in light of increasing economic uncertainty and cost of lending. Concrete risk management around personal guaranties make it *more* likely that banks will offer loans to new and smaller businesses.

Lastly, “the primary social purpose of the judicial process is deciding disputes in a manner that will, upon reflection, permit the loser as well as the winner to feel that he has been fairly treated.” George C. Christie, *Objectivity in the Law*, 78 Yale L.J. 1311, 1329 (1969). Stated plainly, that did not occur in this case. The case went to the appellate court on one issue; and was resolved, in part, on the basis of a separate one, in which evidence was neither sought nor developed and the conclusion therefrom was frankly, wrong. Absent review, final judgment will be entered on the basis of an untested—and indeed, false—

<https://www.cuinsight.com/press-release/harland-financial-solutions-laserpro-celebrates-25th-anniversary> (last visited on September 22, 2021).

¹² See Footnote 1, *supra*.

declaration. This Court should accept this case and confirm that judgment *on the merits* means exactly that.

A. This Court Should Decide Whether an Express and Unambiguous Waiver of the Statute of Limitations in a Commercial Lending Document is Enforceable

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