FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/25/2021 3:01 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

UMPQUA BANK,

Appellant,

v.

CHARLES A. GUNZEL, III, et al,

Respondent

No. 1002408

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Bret Uhrich, WSBA #45595 Attorney for Charles A. Gunzel III, Respondent

> 1333 Columbia Park Trail, Ste. 220 Richland, WA 99352 (509) 735-4444 – Telephone (509) 735-7140 – Fax

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

On appeal, the Oregon Supreme Court began by recognizing the general proposition that "[i]n the usual contract

in which the guarantor guarantees the payment of a note, the cause of action against the guarantor accrues upon the maturity of the note and the statute of limitations runs on the guaranty at the same time it runs on the note." *Id.* at 804. However, the court noted that in this specific case, Zaha's guaranty was conditioned upon a specific event, the insolvency of the corporation, and therefor did not accrue until the occurrence of this event. *Id.* As a result, while acknowledging the general rule that the statute of limitations on a personal guaranty accrues upon maturity of the underlying debt, the judgment against Zaha was appropriate because guaranty had a different trigger for accrual of the obligation. *Id.* Recently, the Court of Appeals for Oregon reaffirmed the distinction between the statute of limitations for a personal guaranty and the underlying promissory note. State by & through Bus. Dev. Dep't v. Huttenbauer, 456 P.3d 340, 344 (Or. App. 2019).

Under the law as articulated in *Eustis*, the statute of limitations on the personal guaranty executed by Charles Gunzel

accrued no later than May 28, 2009 when the final extension of the loans made to Cornerstone Building Co. became mature and payable in full. As set forth in the Guaranty Agreement, the guaranty was a "continuing guarantee of payment and performance" obligating Gunzel "absolutely to and unconditionally guarantee full and punctual payment and satisfaction of the indebtedness of the Borrower to Lender." CP 70. In the section addressing the duration of the guaranty, the agreement states that "[t]his Guaranty will take effect when received by the Lender [...] will continue in full force until all the Indebtedness incurred or contracted for [...] have been fully and finally paid and satisfied and all of Guarantor's other obligations under the Guaranty shall have been performed in full." Id.

In other words, as set forth in *Eutis*, the Guaranty Agreement between Umpqua and Gunzel is the "usual" situation where "the cause of action against the guarantor accrues upon the maturity of the note…" *Id.* at 804. While the payments extended

the statute of limitations on the underlying note, ORS 12.240, the Guaranty Agreement is a separate contract and no payments were made under the Guaranty Agreement. *CP 75-81*; *CP 220*.

Notably, this is the default rule in jurisdictions which have addressed the issue. "In most of the jurisdictions in which the point has arisen, it has been held that a payment by a principal debtor will not operate to toll the Statute of Limitations as to a guarantor of the debt..." See Acknowledgement, New Promise, or Payment by Principal as Tolling Statute of Limitations as Against Guarantor, 84 A.L.R. 729 (1933); see also JB Mortg. Co., LLC v. Ring, 56 N.E.3d 866 (Mass. App. Ct. 2016); Corona v. Corona, 329 P.3d 701, 708 (N.M. Ct. App. 2014); Marinelli v. Lombardi, 196 A. 701 (N.J. 1938); Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp. v. Petersen, 770 F.2d 141 (10th Cir. 1985). Because the court of appeals correctly concluded that payments on a promissory note do not extend the statute of limitations on a personal guaranty under Oregon law, the Court should deny the petition for review.

3. A Prospective Waiver Of A Statute Of Limitations Violates Oregon Public Policy.

Under Oregon law, statutes of limitations are matters of legislative policy and should not be altered or extended except by the legislature. *See Waxman v. Waxman & Assocs., Inc.*, 198 P.3d 445, 453 (Or. App. 2008).

In the petition for review, Umpqua Bank argues that Oregon courts allow for blanket waivers of defenses by contract. *Pet. for Review, pg. 24 (citing W. J. Seufert Land Company v. Greenfield*, 496 P.2d 197, 201 (Or. 1972)). In *Greenfield*, the defendants executed an agreement in which they agreed to "assert no defense whatsoever to any action" on the contract. *Id.* at 198. The defendants argued that this clause rendered the agreement void in its entirety in violation of public policy. *Id.* The court on appeal disagreed that the entire contract was rendered void. *Id.* at 200. Instead, the court reasoned that each defense and purported waiver thereof must be considered individually. *Id.* As to waivers of the statute of limitations, the

Supreme Court for the State of Oregon has spoken: such waivers are void for violation of public policy. *See Mitchell v. Campbell*, 13 P. 190, 192 (Or. 1886); *Evans v. Finley*, 111 P.2d 833, 834 (Or. 1941).

Suppose, then, an agreement made by the maker of a note that he would not set up the defense of usury. Would an action lie for a breach of that agreement? It appears not; and the reason is that the right to make the defense is not only a private right to the individual, but it is founded on public policy, which is promoted by his making the defense, and contravened by his refusal to make it. The same principle is applicable to the policy of the statute of limitations; and, with regard to all such matters of public policy, it would seem that no man can bind himself by estoppel not to assert a right which the law gives him on reasons of public policy.

Mitchell, 13 P. at 192 (Or. 1886) (quoting Crane v. French, 38 Miss. 503, 509 (1860)) (emphasis added).

It is in its nature a statute of limitations. The right of the state of prescribe the time within which existing rights shall be prosecuted, and the means by and conditions on which they may be continued in force, is, we think, undoubted. Otherwise, where no term of prescription exists at the inception of a contract, it would continue in perpetuity, and all laws fixing a limitation upon it would be abortive.

Evans, 111 P.2d at 836-37 (quoting Vance v. Vance, 108 U.S. 514, 517 (1883) (emphasis added)).

Umpqua Bank asserts that the form of the Guaranty Agreement is routinely used by lenders throughout the country. *Pet. for Review, pgs. 18-19.* However, notably absent from this argument is any citation to case law upholding the prospective waiver contained in this allegedly ubiquitous Guaranty Agreement form. Oregon is not alone in recognizing that prospective waivers of the statute of limitations are void for public policy. The conclusion is near-universal. *See e.g. Haggerty v. Williams*, 855 A.2d 264, 268 (Conn. App. 2004); *accord Ahmad v. Eastpines Terrace Apartments, Inc.*, 28 A.3d 1, 8 (Md. App. 2011); 51 Am.Jur.2d 686, Limitation of Actions § 377 (2000).

In this case, by its very terms, the Guaranty Agreement purports to waive the statute of limitations at the commencement of the contract. This provision violates Oregon public policy and the court of appeals did not err in so concluding.

C. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Denied Umpqua Bank's Motion To Supplement The Factual Record As Untimely And Inequitable, And Correctly Concluded That The Issue Was Raised And Litigated Before The Trial Court.

The Court should deny the petition for review because the court of appeals correctly rejected Umpqua Bank's motion for reconsideration and motion to supplement the record under RAP 9.11. The court of appeals further correctly concluded that the decision in *Gunzel I* was decided based on the same arguments made and litigated before the trial court.

1. The Court Of Appeals Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Rejecting The Motion To Supplement The Record.

Following the adverse decision in *Gunzel I*, the motion for reconsideration submitted by Umpqua Bank relied almost exclusively on its request to submit additional evidence to the court on review, citing the factors set forth in RAP 9.11. *Mtn.* for *Reconsideration*, *pgs. 1*; 20-21. RAP 9.11(a) provides as follows:

The appellate court may direct that additional evidence on the merits of the case be taken before the decision of a case on review if:

- (1) additional proof of facts is needed to fairly resolve the issues on review,
- (2) the additional evidence would probably change the decision being reviewed,
- (3) it is equitable to excuse a party's failure to present the evidence to the trial court,
- (4) the remedy available to a party through postjudgment motions in the trial court is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive,
- (5) the appellate court remedy of granting a new trial is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive, and
- (6) it would be inequitable to decide the case solely on the evidence already taken in the trial court.

All six elements must be met before the appellate court will take or consider the additional evidence. *Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1 of King Cnty. v. Univ. of Washington*, 182 Wn. App. 34, 327 P.3d 1281, 1289 (2014). Supplementation of the trial court record is only allowed in extraordinary cases. *E. Fork Hills Rural Ass'n v. Clark Cnty.*, 92 Wn. App. 838, 845, 965 P.2d 650, 653 (1998),

as amended (Nov. 13, 1998). As the court of appeals noted, RAP 9.11 only allows for supplementation "before the decision of a case on review...." RAP 9.11(a); *Gunzel II*, pg. 13.

In addition to rejecting the motion as untimely, the court proceeded to review a subset of the elements required under RAP 9.11. Gunzel II, pgs. 13-16. In the petition for review, Umpqua Bank complains that the court made "equitable findings" regarding Umpqua Bank's failure to present the proposed evidence to the trial court. Pet. for Review, pg. 33. Perhaps recognizing the heavy burden required to supplement the record under RAP 9.11, Umpqua Bank equates the denial to a discovery sanction of dismissal. See Pet. for Review, pgs. 32-33. However, this review was necessarily invited by Umpqua Bank's motion to supplement the record as both RAP 9.11(a)(3) and RAP 9.11(a)(6) require the movant to establish the equity of allowing for supplementation of the record. As the court of appeals noted, the record demonstrated that Umpqua Bank could not show it was equitable to excuse its failure to present the evidence to the trial court. *See Gunzel II*, pg. 14.

Finally, while unaddressed by the court of appeals, it is important to note that Umpqua Bank makes a bare allegation that Gunzel committed perjury. The allegation appears to exclusively based on the fact that account name on the checks means that the payments were made by Gunzel. The ownership of funds within a bank account is not controlled by who is named on the account. RCW 30A.22.130. While the payor financial institution may rely on the form of the account "absent actual knowledge of the existence of dispute between depositors, beneficiaries, or other persons claiming an interest in funds deposited in an account," this "protection accorded to financial institutions under RCW 30A.22.120... shall have no bearing on the actual rights of ownership to deposited funds by a depositor, and/or between RCW 30A.22.120 (first quotation); RCW depositors...." 30A.22.130 (second quotation).

Moreover, Oregon statutory law provides that a corporation's existence to continues post-dissolution for winding up corporate affairs.

A dissolved corporation continues the corporation's corporate existence but may not carry on any business except that appropriate to wind up and liquidate the corporation's business and affairs, including:

(a) Collecting the corporation's assets;

. .

(c) <u>Discharging or making provision for discharging</u> the corporation's liabilities;

. . .

(f) Doing other acts necessary to wind up and liquidate the corporation's business and affairs.

ORS 60.637(1) (emphasis added); *see also Wohrman v. Rogers*, 362 P.3d 704, 708 (Or. App. 2015) (discussing post-dissolution liability of members in the context of limited liability companies). Because Umpqua Bank's motion to supplement the record was untimely and because it failed to establish the elements necessary for supplementation, the court of appeals did not abuse its discretion in rejecting the motion.

2. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Determined That The Decision On Review Was Based On The Same Legal Arguments Litigated Before The Trial Court.

The Court should deny the petition for review because the court of appeals correctly concluded that the decision in *Gunzel I* was based on the same questions litigated below. In the petition for review, Umpqua Bank devotes a substantial portion of its argument asserting that the court of appeals decision rested on an "issue [that] was never developed or litigated in either summary judgment proceeding." *Pet. for Review*, *pg.* 28. As the court of appeals identified, this assertion is based on "arguments that misrepresent or misconstrue the record before the trial court and before this court." *Gunzel II*, *pg.* 16.

In his motion for summary judgment, Gunzel asserted that "[t]hereafter, Cornerstone Building Co. continued to make payments through December 16, 2013." *CP 7*. As discussed *supra*, the basis for this factual assertion was Umpqua's own responses to discovery showing the payment history on the

promissory note and its matching account number #124790 as opposed to the personal guaranty with account number #525164. *CP 7 (citing CP 75)*; *compare also CP 75 with CP 169*. The identity of the payor and upon which obligation the payments were made was the argument raised in the motion for summary judgment itself. *CP 9-10*. In opposing summary judgment, Umpqua Bank chose to rely on the waiver of statute of limitations and that *Eustis v. Park-o-Lator* was distinguishable from the case before the court. *CP 97-100*; *CP 101*. It did not attempt to establish that Gunzel had ratified or approved of the payments on the underlying note. *Id*; *see Gunzel I*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 802.

Thereafter, Umpqua made its own motion for summary judgment. *See CP 158*. Gunzel opposed the motion on the basis that the extension of the promissory note was done without consent of the guarantor, relieving the guarantor of its obligations under the guaranty. *CP 215-218 (citing Marc Nelson Oil Prod., Inc. v. Grim Logging Co.*, 110 P.3d 120, 123, (Or. App. 2005) *as*

modified, 115 P.3d 935 (2005)). Umpqua submitted a reply which disputed this argument. *See CP 226*. In other words, the decision of this Court was not "un-litigated" at the trial court, it was extensively litigated, and Umpqua simply disagreed with the legal argument. The court of appeals correctly analyzed the record on review.

D. Attorney's Fees Under RAP 18.1(j).

The Court should award Gunzel attorney's fees related to answering the petition for review pursuant to RAP 18.1(j). Under the Guaranty Agreement, Gunzel agreed to pay "Lender's attorney fees and legal expenses, incurred in connection with enforcement of the Agreement." *CP 70*. This provision includes attorney's fees incurred on appeal. *Id*. Under ORS 20.096, attorney's fees clauses in contract are deemed to be bilateral, regardless of the contract's provisions. *Accord* RCW 4.84.330.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the petition for review in this matter because the petitioner has failed to meet any of the criteria

for review under RAP 13.4(b). In addition to not meeting the criteria for review, the petition fails to seriously engage with the decisions of the court of appeals. At no point does the petition cite the leading Oregon case law on personal guaranties, *Eustis*. The petition makes no mention of *Mitchell* or *Evans* which establish that a prospective waiver of the statute of limitations violates Oregon public policy. These decisions are discussed extensively in the opinion below. *Gunzel I*, 16 Wn. App. 2d at 800; 808-09. Instead of explaining how these cases are inapplicable or distinguishable, Umpqua Bank simply pretends that they do not exist.

Similarly, Umpqua Bank does not contend with the court of appeals' detailed review of the record regarding what was argued before the trial court. *Gunzel II, pgs. 17-18*. It does not address why Petitioner should have been allowed to submit additional evidence after the decision on review had been reached where the evidence was not only submitted to the trial court, but responsive and unproduced in discovery. *Id. at pg. 14*.

The petition for review does not even cite RAP 9.11(a), the very relief requested in its motion to supplement the record. The inability to confront the bases of the decisions evinces the petition's lack of merit. As a result, the Court should deny the petition for review.

Pursuant to RAP 18.17(b), the undersigned certifies that this document was produced using word processing software, and contains 5,000 words exclusive of words contained in the appendices, the title sheet, the table of contents, the table of authorities, the certificate of compliance, the certificate of service, signature blocks, and pictorial images (e.g., photographs, maps, diagrams, and exhibits.